
                

Anyone who requires translation services, an auxiliary aid, or other service for effective communication or a modification 
of policies or procedures to participate in a City program, service, or activity, should contact the City Manager’s Office at 
(319) 286-5080 or email a.wing@cedar-rapids.org as soon as possible but no later than 48 hours before the event. 
 
 

Citizen Review Board 
City Services Center   |   Five Seasons Conference Room, 1st floor   |   500 15th Avenue SW 

October 14, 2021 | 5:00 p.m. 
 

The Citizen Review Board will hold an in-person meeting on October 14, 2021 at 5:00 p.m.  
 
Any member of the public who would like to observe the meeting virtually can do so, but must pre-register at 
https://cedar-rapids.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_W_gLDlc1RRqy7ho4OnQu_Q  
PLEASE NOTE: Registration cut-off is 2 hours prior to the meeting. Registrations submitted after the cut-off time will not 
be approved. 
 
Purpose of the Citizen Review Board: 

The purpose of the Citizen Review Board is to ensure fair and professional law enforcement that is constitutional, 

effective, and responsive to the standards, values, and needs of those to be served.   

AGENDA 

1. Call to order 
 

2. Approve September 16, 2021 meeting minutes 
 

3. Discussion Items 

a. Discuss plan for updating public on CRB activities                     Committee  
i. Discuss methods and messaging     
ii. Establish protocols for conveying information to the public  

 
b. Review CRPD complaint procedure     Chief Jerman, CRPD 

 
c. Report on complaints received     Chief Jerman, CRPD       

                                              

4. Training 

Principles of Effective Oversight of Law Enforcement                 Cameron McEllhiney, NACOLE           

5. Announcements 
 

6. Adjournment 

a. Next meeting date 

b. Future agenda items  

 

https://cedar-rapids.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_W_gLDlc1RRqy7ho4OnQu_Q


 
 

Citizen Review Board (CRB) 
City Services Center, Five Seasons Conference Room, 500 15th Ave SW 

September 16, 2021 – 5:00 p.m. 

MINUTES 

Committee Members present: Al O’Bannon (virtually), Arthur Kim, Dedric Doolin, India Snow-Watt, 
Lovar Davis, Monica Vallejo, and Star Smith  
Committee Members absent: Aaron Eddy and Kelsey Culver 
Staff Members present: April Wing, Police Chief Wayne Jerman, Police Officer Josh Carter, and Police 
Lieutenant Ryan Abodeely 
 

The meeting was called to order at 5:00 p.m. by Chair Star Smith.  

 

India Snow-Watt moved to approve the meeting minutes. Arthur Kim seconded. There were no 

objections to the August 19, 2021 meeting minutes. Motion passed. 

Citizen Review Board members discussed a conflict in the training schedule and agreed to move the 

training that was originally scheduled for the afternoon of December 3 to the morning of December 3 

from 9 a.m. to 12 p.m. April Wing will update the calendar invite and notify Sergeant Faircloth of the 

change. 

Lieutenant Abodeely, Officer of Professional Standards/Internal Affairs, reviewed the “Response to 

Resistance/Use of Force” form that are completed by police officers when use of force is used (form is 

included in the meeting packet). This report is a supplemental report to the incident report that is 

completed for all incidents responded to by police officers. He gave an overview of the process and 

explained the four-tier review process. Once the police officer completes the “Response to 

Resistance/Use of Force” form, it is reviewed first by the shift commander (lieutenant of the division), 

then the division commander (police captain of the division), then the Deputy Police Chief, and lastly by 

Lieutenant Abodeely. As part of their review, the shift commander identifies if there was video and if it 

was reviewed, as well as if it was reviewed in ILEADS, the Police Department’s data tracking system. 

Each reviewer also includes any pertinent comments and signs. When completing the form, the officer 

completes the backside of the form that includes various checkboxes to describe the incident including 

the type of incident, information the officer was aware of at the onset, subject information, 

environmental factors, de-escalation used, subjects action, and reason for force. Lieutenant Abodeely 

noted the review process is typically completed within 1-2 weeks.  A board member asked what the 

outcomes were once the form was completed and reviewed. Lieutenant Abodeely explained that if 

remediation actions are deemed appropriate, they are dependent on the outcome of the review. 

Remediation could range from a conversation with the officer, additional training, an internal 

investigation performed by Lieutenant Abodeely, or if necessary, a referral to the State Ombudsman 

Office.  There was also discussion regarding the checkbox item “emotionally disturbed person” included 

under “type of incident” and “subject information”. A member asked what the definition was for this 

and how it was decided if someone was “emotionally disturbed”. Lieutenant Abodeely noted it is based 

on the totality of the call and overall situation of how the subject presents. He also noted that the Police 

Department has two Mental Health Liaisons from Foundations II that assist with these situations. Citizen 



 
 
 
Review Board members recommended the Police Department consider changing the term “disturbed” 

to “distressed”. 

In conjunction with the “Response to Resistance/Use of Force” report, Lieutenant Abodeely reviewed 

the definitions of the different types of use of force (definition document is included in the meeting 

packet), explained which use of force types are commonly used, which types are rarely used, and 

answered questions about the use of force types. 

Lieutenant Abodeely asked if there were additional questions regarding the data that was shared with 

the Citizen Review Board at their August meeting. He elaborated on a question that was asked at the 

previous meeting about the lack of reporting on statistics for Latinos. He explained that Latino is 

considered an ethnicity rather than a specific race and can often be difficult to track since ethnicity is 

often self-defined and can be a combination of one’s culture, race, geography, etc. He noted the Police 

Department tracks what the federal government requires them to, but did note that he will look into the 

ability to report on ethnicity data. He gave the caveat that because it is based on how people personally 

identify themselves and not always reported consistently, the data will likely be sporadic, making it 

more difficult to be reported on accurately.  

Camme McEllhiney, Director of Training and Education at the National Association for Civilian Oversight 

of Law Enforcement (NACOLE), re-introduced herself to the Citizen Review Board and asked members to 

introduce themselves and identify why they wanted to be on the board. Camme McEllhiney presented 

information on civilian oversight of law enforcement history and models. Once the training was 

complete, she answered questions. In response to a question about how to gain legitimacy with the 

public, she noted that it takes time and recommended that although the Citizen Review Board is still 

working on establishing their foundation and working on acquiring training, they may want to briefly 

update the public on what they have been doing over the past few months. 

 
The next CRB meeting is scheduled for Thursday, October 15, 2021 from 5-7 p.m. Agenda items will 
include an overview of the Cedar Rapids Police Department complaint process, a discussion about 
messaging to notify the public of what the Citizen Review Board is working on, and additional training by 
NACOLE.  
 
The meeting was adjourned by Chair Star Smith at 7:05 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
April Wing 
City Manager’s Office 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Citizen Review Board Communication 
 

 Create CRB page on website to house news and updates. 

 Can post on social media and link to website page for more details. 

 This will allow the board to have own area where everything lives, and gives more autonomy, 
rather than it being mixed in with all the other city info. 

 
Draft/Example Social Media Post:  
 
The Cedar Rapids Citizen Review Board (CRB) has been working diligently to establish the foundational 
groundwork needed for long-term success of the board in order to best support community needs. 
Learn more about the CRB’s current work and upcoming plans on the CRB news page. (link to news page) 
 
Draft Website News Article: 
 
The Cedar Rapids Citizen Review Board (CRB) has been working diligently since beginning monthly 
meetings in July to establish the foundational groundwork needed for long-term success in order to best 
support community needs. Within the first few months of meeting, the board has established by-laws, 
previewed police data sets, and learned about use of force types and the Cedar Rapids’ Police 
Department’s procedure for receiving and investigating complaints. They also received foundational 
training about law enforcement oversight models and principles from the National Association for 
Civilian Oversight on Law Enforcement (NACOLE). Police Officer Liaisons and Cedar Rapids Police Chief 
Wayne Jerman have attended every meeting, welcoming the opportunity to act as resources to answer 
board member questions and address concerns. 
 
In November 2021, Citizen Review Board members will begin their 30 hours of required training from 
the Cedar Rapids Police Department. This training will include in depth information regarding 
department training and policies, and will provide the needed background to assist members 
understanding of reports, policies, procedures, and laws as they serve the community in their capacity 
on the board. 
 
CRB members also have plans to begin public outreach opportunities in spring, 2022. Watch for 
additional updates from the CRB in the coming months. 
 
 
 
The purpose of the Cedar Rapids Citizen Review Board is to ensure fair and professional law 
enforcement that is constitutional, effective, and responsive to the standards, values, and needs of 
those served.   



74.04 CITIZEN COMPLAINTS OF ALLEGED POLICE MISCONDUCT. 

(A) Making and Filing Complaints. 

(1) Any person with personal knowledge of alleged police misconduct may file a complaint. In 

order to have "personal knowledge", the complainant must have been directly involved in the 

incident or witnessed the incident. If a juvenile wants to make a complaint against an officer, the 

complaint will be taken in the same manner as if an adult filed it. Once a complaint is taken from 

a juvenile, an attempt must be made to notify the juvenile’s parent or guardian concerning the 

complaint and the circumstances involved. This notification will be documented in the final 

report provided to the Chief by the Professional Standards unit of the CRPD (hereinafter 

referred to as “Professional Standards”). The person or official filing the complaint may 

hereafter be referred to as the "complainant." 

(2) Complaints may be filed in person or online with the CRB, the CRPD, or the City Clerk’s office. 

The date, time, and name of the person receiving the complaint shall be recorded on the 

complaint form and submitted in a timely manner to Professional Standards. Each office shall 

record the receipt of all Complaints and provide notice of receipt of all complaints to the others 

when received; and 

(3) Complaint forms will be available to the public online and in easily accessible locations. 

Personnel in the City Clerk’s Office, sworn police officers, and nonsworn police staff will be 

available to receive complaints. All complaints must be filed within ninety (90) days of the 

alleged misconduct. Any complaints that do not involve the conduct of a sworn police officer or 

are not filed within ninety (90) days of the alleged misconduct may be investigated by the 

Professional Standards unit and may be subject to summary dismissal by the CRB. If the 

complaint is against the Chief, the City Manager will perform the Chief’s duties set forth herein 

below. 

 

(B) Police Department Investigation of Complaints. 

(1) The Chief will direct Professional Standards to conduct an investigation of each complaint 

received (“PSI”). The PSI will be conducted pursuant to the Department Directives established by 

the Chief, as well as the conditions herein. The Department Directives will be a public record and 

readily available to the community. All investigations will be performed in a manner designed to 

produce a minimum of inconvenience and embarrassment to all parties, including the 

complainant, the police officer, and other witnesses. 

(2) All PSI will include an interview of the complainant. The complainant may have a neutral City 

employee or some other person chosen by the complainant present during the interview. Any 

police officer who is implicated by a complaint shall have the right to have legal counsel or a 

union representative present during the officer’s interview. 

(3) Professional Standards will prepare and forward a report of its investigation to the Chief 

within sixty (60) days after the complaint is filed. The PSI report will include detailed findings of 



fact as to the allegations in the complaint. The report will also set forth a written conclusion that 

explains why and the extent to which the complaint is either:  

“exonerated” (meaning the officer acted in conformance with policies and procedures); 

“unfounded” (meaning the incident in question is found to have not occurred as stated by the 

complainant);  

“unsubstantiated” (meaning there is insufficient evidence to prove or disprove the complaint); 

"sustained" (meaning the incident in question is found to have occurred as alleged by the 

complainant);  

“commended” (meaning the officer acted properly and should be commended in the handling 

of the situation); or  

"policy failure”(meaning the officer acted in conformance with established policy, but the policy 

needs to be amended). 

(4) The Chief will conduct a review of the PSI report and may do any or all of the following: 

conduct interviews or request Professional Standards to conduct additional investigation; 

request additional information, or that additional questions be asked; interview or direct that 

other persons or witnesses be  interviewed; request that other documents be reviewed or 

retrieved; and take any other investigative steps the Police Chief deems appropriate. 

 (5) The Chief will forward a Police Chief's report to the CRB. The Police Chief’s report will 

include the following: 

a. Detailed written findings of fact and evidence concerning the allegation sin the 

complaint (names of witnesses, victims, and Police Officers will not be included and shall 

be replaced by unique identifiers for each of these individuals). Faces and names will be 

edited out of any media provided to the CRB; 

b. A written conclusion that explains why and the extent to which the complaint is 

either “sustained”, “unfounded”, “exonerated”, “unsubstantiated”, “commended”, 

“policy failure”; 

c. A written summary of remedial actions, if any, including amending the current policies 

or adopting new policies; 

d. A description of any disciplinary action recommended by the current disciplinary 

matrix contained within the CRPD Disciplinary System Policy issued by the Chief 

(hereinafter referred to as the “Disciplinary Matrix”).Nothing in this chapter will prevent 

the Police Chief from taking disciplinary action prior to the CRB’s review of the 

complaint; and 

e. The Chief’s certification that the PSI was conducted in conformance with the CRPD’s 

Department Directives. 



(6) A copy of the Police Chief's report to the CRB shall be given to the police officer and the City 

Manager; 

(7) The Chief’s report must be delivered to the CRB, along with findings of fact and all available 

evidence and audio and visual recordings, within thirty (30) calendar days after the 

Professional Standards report is issued to the Chief, unless the Chief demonstrates good cause 

for additional time; and 

 

(C) CRB Review of the Police Chief’s Report. 

(1) The CRB will review all Police Chief's reports, or City Manager's Reports regarding complaints 

made against the Police Chief. The CRB may require the Chief to meet with the CRB to review 

and discuss the Report. To the extent possible, such meetings may be in closed session as 

allowed by Iowa Code Chapter 21. All CRB deliberation of the Chief’s report will be discussed in a 

closed session with all discussions, correspondence, and minutes/records of the closed session 

deemed confidential documents and not released to the public. The CRB may request subject 

matter experts participate in the conversation during open and closed sessions, and request 

additional information from the Chief or other entities to supplement its review. 

(2) The CRB will decide, on a majority vote, the level of review to give each Police Chief's 

report, and the CRB may select any or all of the following: 

a. Agree with no additional information or investigation requested; 

b. Request additional investigation by the Chief or City Manager, request additional 

information; and 

c. Disagree and provide recommendations to the Chief. 

(3) The CRB will apply a "reasonable basis" standard of review when reviewing the Police Chief's 

report. When reviewing the report’s evidence, the CRB will rely on evidence reasonably prudent 

persons are accustomed to rely upon in the conduct of their serious affairs. 

(4) The CRB may recommend that the Police Chief reverse or modify the Chief’s findings only if 

the CRB determines that: 

a. The findings are not supported by substantial evidence; 

b. The findings are unreasonable, arbitrary or capricious; or 

c. The findings are contrary to a CRPD Department Directive, or federal, state, or local 

law. 

The Police Chief will respond in writing to the CRB’s recommendations within thirty (30) days. 

(5) If the CRB disagrees with the decision of the Police Chief the CRB may issue a written 

response to the Chief indicating on which of the three (3) standards in Section 74.04(C)(4) upon 

which the CRB’s disagreement is based. Thereafter, the Chief will meet with the CRB to discuss 



the disagreement. This meeting may be closed as allowed by Iowa Code Chapter 21. Such 

meeting will take place prior to the issuance of the CRB’s public report to the City Council. If 

after the CRB has met with the Chief, as outlined in this subsection, and the CRB still disagrees 

with the Chief’s report, the CRB may on a majority vote, remand the case to the State of Iowa 

Office of Ombudsman, the Iowa Civil Rights Commission, or a non-governmental independent 

arbiter approved by both the CRB and the City Council and request an independent 

investigation. 

(6) If the CRB finds that the disciplinary action indicated by the Police Chief, for investigations 

that result in sustained civilian police complaints, is out of conformance with the Discipline 

Matrix, the CRB may recommend other discipline that conforms with the Discipline Matrix. 

Imposition of the recommended discipline is at the discretion of the Chief, but if the Chief does 

not follow the disciplinary recommendation of the CRB, the Chief must respond in writing, 

within 30 days, with the Chief’s reasons as to why the recommended discipline was not 

imposed. 

(7) At the conclusion of the CRB’s review, the CRB will issue a public report to the City Council 

concerning the investigation of the complaint. Such public report will include detailed findings of 

fact concerning the complaint, together with a clearly articulated conclusion that explains the 

disposition of the complaint. The public report will not include the names of the complainant(s), 

witness(es) or the police officer(s). In addition, the CRB's public report will not include any 

discipline or personnel matters, although the CRB may comment generally as to whether the 

CRB believes discipline is appropriate without commenting on the extent or form of the 

discipline. A copy of this public report to the City Council shall be given to the complainant(s), 

the police officer(s), the Police Chief, and the City Manager. 

(8) The CRB’s report to the City Council must be completed within ninety (90) calendar days of 

receipt of the Chief's report unless the CRB demonstrates good cause for additional time. 

 (9) Review of the Chief’s report for each case by the CRB may occur after all pending 

investigations, legal proceedings, and any applicable appeals, grievances, or other review of the 

incident have been completed. 



CEDAR RAPIDS POLICE DEPARTMENT 
Cedar Rapids, Iowa 

APPLIES TO: 
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POLICY/PURPOSE:   

The purpose of this directive is to establish guidelines and procedures for receiving, reporting, 
investigating, and adjudicating allegations of department employee misconduct.  

  

It is essential that the entire community have confidence in the administration that supervises the 
exercise of police authority.  This requires procedures for adequate and expedient processing of all 
complaints against department employees including anonymous complaints. [26.2.1] 

  

The Chief of Police is charged with the responsibility and has the authority to maintain discipline within 
the department.  Accordingly, he must ensure that internal investigations are conducted according to the 
fundamental principles of fairness, and that department employees are afforded all of their rights.  The 
Chief’s office will be responsible for maintaining the records of all complaints, both minor and major in 
nature and assure that the files and records are secure. [26.2.2] 

  

All employees will comply with department rules, regulations, directives, and orders.  All employees will 
be held strictly accountable for properly exercising the authority they have been given to protect the 
rights, lives, and property of all individuals.  At the same time, department employees must be protected 
against false allegations of misconduct.  This can only be accomplished through a consistently thorough 
investigative process.  Prompt, thorough investigations will be conducted into all complaints to establish 
facts that can absolve the innocent and identify the guilty. 

 

Refer to the Iowa Peace Officer, Public Safety, and Emergency Personnel Bill of Rights – 80F.1  

 

DEFINITION:   

Complaint 

 Basic Definition: 

o A complaint is defined as any alleged misconduct made against an employee, whether it 
involves a violation of policy, procedure, code of ethics, state or federal law, or other 
recognized standard of conduct.   

 

 Formal Definition: 

o Refer to 80F.1 of the Code of Iowa. 
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Complaint Source – Complaints will be accepted from any source.  A complaint may be received by the 
department in person, by telephone, by e-mail, by letter or anonymously.  No employee shall attempt to 
discourage, interfere, influence or delay an individual from making a complaint. 

 

Coaching – A form documenting a verbal correction given for minor policy violations.  The form will be 
placed in the employee’s disciplinary file.  This is not punitive in nature. [26.1.4b] 

 Refer to the Disciplinary System directive 

 

Disciplinary Action – A complaint which could result in the termination, demotion, suspension or receipt of 
a written reprimand by the affected employee (See Disciplinary System directive for further details). 

 

Informal Inquiry – Means a meeting by supervisory or command personnel with an employee who is the 
subject of an allegation, for the purpose of resolving the allegation or determining whether a formal 
administrative investigation should be commenced. 

 

Interview – Means the questioning of an employee who is the subject of a complaint pursuant to the 
formal administrative investigation procedures of the investigating agency, if such a complaint may be the 
basis for seeking removal, discharge, or suspension, or other disciplinary action against the employee.  
“Interview” does not include questioning as part of any informal inquiry or questioning related to minor 
infractions of agency rules which will not result in removal, discharge, suspension, or other disciplinary 
action against the employee. 

 

Line Investigation – An investigation referred to the division commander for assignment to the affected 
employee’s supervisor. [26.3.1a] 

 

Internal Investigation – A formal administrative investigation assigned to Professional Standards for 
investigation of serious allegations of misconduct (i.e. allegations of corruption, brutality, misuse of force, 
breach of civil rights and criminal misconduct). [26.3.1b] 

 
DOCUMENTING AND ACCEPTING COMPLAINTS:  [26.2.1; 26.3.1a; 82.2.2b] 

All Cedar Rapids Police Department (CRPD) employees will be required to accept and forward to a 
supervisor any complaint that comes to their attention.  

 

An attempt should be made to refer all complaining persons and related correspondence to a command 
officer or the supervisor of the named employee.  If the complainant will not talk to anyone else the 
receiving employee will complete a complaint form. 
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All external complaints should be submitted in writing on the Personnel Complaint Report (CRPD Form 
#333), or via online reporting.   

 If the complaining party refuses to reduce their complaint to writing or is anonymous, the 
receiving employee or supervisor will document the allegation on a complaint form, stating the 
complainant’s allegation and signing the form.  

o The written complaint will be forwarded to the Chief’s Office. [26.3.2] 

 

Allegations of improper or illegal activity brought forth internally will be documented by Supervisors or 
Professional Standards on a CRPD Memorandum.  This memorandum is to be signed by the author and 
forwarded to the Chief’s Office. 

 

COMPLAINTS MADE BY JUVENILES: [82.2.2b] 
If a juvenile would indicate they want to make a complaint against an employee, employees shall take the 
complaint in the same manner as if it was filed by an adult.  Once a complaint is taken, an attempt must 
be made to notify the juvenile’s parent or guardian concerning the complaint and the circumstances 
involved.  In most circumstances, this notification should be completed by the commander investigating 
the complaint and should be documented in the final report.  Standard investigative procedures will take 
place. 
 
MISCONDUCT NOT BASED UPON A COMPLAINT:   

If someone calls, writes, or personally appears to “let us know” that an employee did or said something of 
a non-serious or inconsequential nature, and the person does not want to be re-contacted, it will be 
considered an item of concern and can be handled as an “informal inquiry” outside of this process. 

 
COMPLAINT CONFIDENTIALITY 
When a complaint is made, it shall be treated as confidential. Information about the complaint SHALL 
NOT BE DISSEMINATED TO OTHER EMPLOYEES, including the accused employee.  Once a 
complaint has been processed, it shall be the assigned investigator who determines the appropriate 
timing of notification of the accused employee.  No other employee shall make this notification. 
  
*Complaints and internal investigations are part of an employee’s personnel record and confidential by 
law (State Code of Iowa 22.7(11(5)), therefore complaints and investigation shall not be discussed or 
shared with anyone.  
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AFTER RECEIPT OF A COMPLAINT:   

All written complaints shall go directly to the Chief of Police.  It shall be the Chief of Police who 
determines whether an investigation is called for and what type of investigation will be conducted.  No 
complaint shall be considered complete until final disposition is approved by the Chief of Police. [26.3.1a] 

 

After reviewing a complaint, the Chief of Police will make a determination whether a line or internal 
investigation will be done.  

 

Prior to any formal disciplinary action being taken, all written complaints will be forwarded to the Chief of 
Police for distribution and/or for final disposition. 

 

ASSIGNMENT OF COMPLAINT TRACKING NUMBERS:  
Once a complaint is made and an investigation is assigned, a case number will also be assigned by the 
Professional Standards Division.  
 
Allegations that are major violations of policy and procedures shall be investigated by the Professional 
Standards Division.  All investigations assigned to the Professional Standards Division shall be assigned 
a Professional Standards case number i.e. PS2016-01. [26.3.1b] 
 
Complaints that are assigned to a Line Investigation shall be assigned to a Lieutenant or above for 
investigation.  Complaints assigned to a Line Investigation shall be assigned a LI designation case 
number i.e. LI2016-01. [26.31a] 
 
Line Investigations are administrative investigations assigned to the affected employees supervisor for 
investigation.  Should a Line Investigation reveal serious policy violations, criminal violations or if 
assistance is needed, the Professional Standards will be contacted for guidance. 
 
COMPLAINT ACKNOWLEDGEMENT NOTIFICATION: [26.3.4a]   

All complaints require contacting the complainant. 

   

Once a determination is made as to the type of investigation to be conducted, the investigating employee 
will send a letter and/or make a documented phone call to the complainant verifying receipt of the 
complaint, the investigative process, the expected time-line for completion, and the assurance that they 
will be contacted as to the results upon conclusion of the investigation.  
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NOTIFICATION TO THE EMPLOYEE(S) UNDER INVESTIGATION:   

All employees who are being investigated for a line or internal investigation will be notified in person and 
in writing of the allegations prior to an interview.  The written notice shall be provided in a timely manner 
but shall not impede an investigation.     

 

All employees who are subjects of a complaint which may result in disciplinary action will be advised of 
their administrative rights.  See Employees Rights and Responsibilities Pertaining to Administrative 
Investigations form (CRPD # 738). [26.3.5] 

 Employee’s responsibilities: 

o The employee may be ordered to appear before the Investigator(s) at a reasonable time 
and place for questioning. 

o The employee may be ordered to provide a written account of their actions regarding the 
investigation and fully cooperate with the Investigators. 

o Refusal to answer questions may subject the employee to administrative discipline, up to 
and including termination. 

o The employee must be forthcoming, truthful, and complete in their responses. 

  

 Investigator’s responsibilities 

o An interview of the employee who is subject of a complaint which may result in 
disciplinary action shall be audio recorded.    

o Should an employee be questioned regarding a criminal investigation, normal criminal 
investigative questioning procedures shall be in effect such as Miranda warning if the 
employee is the focus of a criminal investigation.  When and if Miranda is given to a 
department employee shall be up to the discretion of the criminal Investigators. 

o An employee shall be immediately notified in writing of the results of the investigation 
when the investigation is completed.  

 

ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE OF ABSENCE: [22.1.2a; 26.3.7]  

Any command or supervisor has the authority to impose a fully paid administrative leave of absence upon 
a subordinate when it appears that an employee is physically or emotionally unable to discharge their 
duties or when the employee has committed a violation necessitating immediate suspension pending the 
outcome of an investigation, if applicable.  An emergency administrative leave of absence shall last until 
the next regular work day of the Chief of Police.  The involved commander may require the subordinate to 
relinquish their badge, firearm(s), and other official police credentials.  The commander will contact the 
respective Division Captain and/or their designee reference the administrative leave of absence as soon 
as possible.  
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The commander or supervisor imposing such a suspension shall submit a written report to the Chief of 
Police via the chain of command as to the incident and action taken prior to the Division Captain reporting 
for work. 

 

A member receiving an administrative leave of absence shall be required to report to the Chief’s Office on 
the next business day at 0900 hours unless otherwise directed by a commander.  

  

INTERNAL AFFAIRS FUNCTION:   

The Chief of Police shall designate a person to act on his or her behalf who is responsible for the 
administration of the department's internal affair functions.  Due to the sensitivity and impact of internal 
affairs matters, it is imperative that the Chief of Police receive all pertinent information directly.  During 
internal affairs investigations, the Chief’s Professional Standards Investigator has the authority to report 
directly to the Chief of Police. [26.2.3] 

 

A position backup has been established in case the Professional Standards Investigator is not capable to 
conduct an investigation.  During line investigations, the appropriate Division Captain has the authority to 
report directly to the Chief of Police.  The Chief of Police may establish a special internal affairs unit as a 
part of Professional Standards to perform internal duties. These functions include: 

  

 Supervising and controlling the investigation of all complaints against department employees. 
Receiving, documenting, and maintaining files on all information pertaining to all complaints 
against employees (these files will be maintained in a secure area).  

 When mandated, maintaining the confidentiality of all internal affairs investigations and records. 

 
ASSIGNING THE COMPLAINT FOR FOLLOW-UP/INVESTIGATION:   

Once referred back to the appropriate division by the Chief of Police, line investigations will generally be 
assigned by the Division Captain back to the supervisor of the employee(s) of whom the complaint is 
directed for follow-up action and reporting. 

  

 Internal investigations will be assigned to Professional Standards for follow-up assignment and 
reporting. 

 The investigator(s) assigned to investigate a complaint against a department member will: 

o Contact all complainants and witnesses as soon as possible, attempting to ensure that 
complainants and witnesses are not unduly inconvenienced.  

o If attempts to contact a complainant and/or witness is unsuccessful, all attempts to 
contact the person, and the means of communication used (telephone, correspondence, 
personal visit) shall be documented in the final report of the investigation.  
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o The assigned Investigator should conduct as complete an investigation as possible using 

all proper investigative procedures appropriate for their investigation. 

o When interviewing the accused employee regarding an allegation of misconduct, the 
assigned interviewer must remain aware of the accused employee's rights, as defined by 
administrative rule and by law (See the Iowa Peace Officer, Public Safety, and 
Emergency Personnel Bill of Rights – 80F.1).  

 

 Whenever an employee is subjected to an interview within the scope of this section, the interview 
shall be conducted with the following considerations:  

o The interview shall take place at the police facility. 

o All interviews shall be conducted at a reasonable time of day.  Whenever the nature of 
the alleged incident and the work schedule allows, the interview shall be conducted 
when the affected member is normally scheduled to work.  If an interview is conducted 
while an employee is off duty, the employee shall be compensated as provided by law, 
or as provided in the applicable collective bargaining agreement. 

o The employee under investigation shall be informed of the name of the employee in 
charge of the investigation, the interviewer, and all witnesses to be present during any 
interviews except at a public administrative proceeding. 

o Interview sessions shall be of reasonable duration and shall allow the employee 
interviewed reasonable periods of rest and for personal necessities. 

o The employee being interviewed shall not be subjected to professional or personal 
abuse, including offensive language. 

o An employee shall have the right to have legal counsel present, at the employee 
expense, during the interview of the employee.  

o The employee shall have the right, at the employee expense, to have a union 
representative present, or if not a member of a union, the employee shall have the right 
to have a representative present.  NLRB v. J. Weingarten Inc. 

o An employee under investigation will be informed of the nature of the investigation 
before any interrogation begins, and he or she will be informed of the names of all 
complainants.  

o An employee who is the subject of a complaint, shall at a minimum, be provided a written 
summary of the complaint prior to an interview.  

o An employee may voluntarily waive the provisions of this paragraph and provide a 
voluntary statement at any time.  

o If the complaint alleges domestic abuse, sexual abuse, workplace harassment, or sexual 
harassment, the employee shall not receive more than a written summary of the 
complaint pursuant to the Code of Iowa. 
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 If the interview is to be recorded, all parties will be advised. 

 During the investigation, a polygraph examination will not be administered, cause to be 
administered, threaten to be administered, or attempt to be administered to any employee. 
[26.3.6f] 

 The Chief of Police may require an employee to submit to any of the following tests or 
disclosures when the test or disclosure is needed to prove or disprove the complaint related to a 
formal internal investigation regarding the employee.  Failure to follow a direct order of this 
nature may result in a separate disciplinary action against the employee.  Should one (1) or more 
of these tests be ordered, the scope and purpose will narrowly relate to the internal investigation 
being conducted. 

o Medical or laboratory examination including chemical tests. [26.3.6a] 

o Photographs of the employee. [26.3.6b] 

o Audio or video recordings. [26.3.6c] 

o Participation in a line-up. [26.3.6d] 

o Financial disclosure statements by the employee. [26.3.6e] 

 

 The rights of employees in disciplinary procedures set forth by this section shall not diminish the 
employee's rights guaranteed to all citizens by the Constitution and laws of the United States and 
of the State of Iowa.  

 During the investigation into the alleged misconduct, the investigator will ensure that their 
conduct and that of anyone under his command will be of the highest standards.  At no time will 
the rights, either civil or administrative, of the accused or any citizen be violated. 

 No employee shall be made to suffer a discharge, demotion, transfer, or reassignment, nor be 
threatened with the same, solely for exercising the rights granted in this section.  

 Should the investigator uncover information of possible criminal activity, they shall immediately 
advise the Chief of Police.  If a department employee is alleged to have been involved in any 
criminal activity, the Chief of Police or designee may contact the appropriate prosecuting 
attorney's office.  This contact may be for notification and/or legal advice, or assistance in case 
preparation. 

o The Chief of Police may also contact the appropriate criminal justice agency for 
assistance in investigating a criminal allegation against an employee of the department. 

o Should allegations or information include both criminal and administrative violations, the 
Chief of Police may order separate investigations by different investigators or agencies. 
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SEARCHES 
An employee’s personal property will not be subject to search or seizure without probable cause, a 
search warrant and under conditions permitted by law.  Department property, such as vehicles, work 
areas, stations or lockers, voicemail, computers, cell phones, pagers and/or any digital device(s) as well 
as server logs of computer and Internet usage, may be searched administratively without consent, even if 
assigned to or used exclusively by a single member. 
 

Searches will be conducted professionally and, whenever practical, in the employee’s presence.   A 
second commander should also be present during any search.   
 
TIME LIMITS: [26.3.3, 26.3.4b]   

It shall be the responsibility of the Division Captain for line investigations and Professional Standards for 
internal investigations, to track the status of each investigation and ensure that it is proceeding as quickly 
as possible to avoid undue delay.  Every effort shall be made to complete investigations within 60 days of 
receipt.  If this is not possible, the following will be notified of the extension: 

 Chief of Police 

 Employee(s) involved; and 

 Complainant 

  

REPORTING THE INVESTIGATIVE FINDINGS AND A DISPOSITION (FORM, FORMAT AND FILING):   

Upon completion of a line or internal investigation, the investigating commander will forward a 
comprehensive written summary of the investigative findings to the respective Division Captain.  The 
memo shall include a summary of the incident describing the allegation of misconduct, the associated 
policy and legal issues, a summary describing the facts of the case revealed by the investigation, and the 
final determination of the investigation with one (1) of six (6) possible findings: 

  

 Exonerated - The employee acted properly;  

 Unfounded - The incident in question did not occur as stated by the complainant;              

 Unsubstantiated - There is insufficient evidence to prove or disprove the complaint; and  

 Sustained - The act did occur as alleged by the complainant, 

 Commended – The employee acted properly and should be commended in the handling of the 
situation 

 Policy failure - The employee acted within established policy, but policy needs to be changed. 

  

The Division Captain will then forward the Investigative Summary and a separate memo with a 
recommendation on any applicable disciplinary and corrective action to the Chief of Police.  In cases 
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where the Division Captain believes that additional training would deter future infractions, the Division 
Captain may recommend to the Chief of Police that the subordinate receive remedial training. [26.1.5] 

  

In cases where the Division Captain believes that counseling would deter future infractions, the Division 
Captain may recommend to the Chief of Police that the subordinate receives appropriate counseling.  

  

The investigative file will also include the statements of all persons interviewed pursuant to this 
investigation as well as other relevant documents.  

 

DISPOSITION PANELS:   

In some situations, a Disposition Panel may be ordered at the discretion of the Chief of Police.  It will be 
comprised of departmental command level officers, with the rank of Sergeant or higher, and selected by 
the Chief of Police.  In a complaint that involves a non-sworn member, non-sworn supervisors (not in the 
accused person’s immediate chain of command) may serve as members of the panel. 

 

The panel will consist of three (3) members, determined by the Chief of Police.  No member of the 
accused employee’s chain of command shall be on the panel.  One (1) person will be selected as 
chairperson by the panel. 

 The panel will be open only to the chosen panel members. 

 The panel will review the investigative file to determine sufficiency of evidence supporting the 
allegation against the employee.   

o If the panel feels further investigation is required, the file will be returned to Professional 
Standards with documented reasons. 

 
INVESTIGATIVE REVIEW:   

Review of Professional Standards case files received by the disposition panel will include, but not limited 
to the following: 

 Examine reports, documents, photographs, and evidence; 

 Review formal statements and other information of record; and 

 Review investigator’s summary sheet and final finding of fact. 

 

Panel members will discuss cases as necessary to render a recommended disposition.  Professional 
Standards personnel, who conducted the investigation, will be made available at any step in the process 
to discuss the investigation with panel members. 
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The disposition panel will make a disposition, based on a majority vote of the panel, by classification of 
each allegation in accordance with the findings below: 

 Exonerated - The employee acted properly;  

 Unfounded - The incident in question did not occur as stated by the complainant;              

 Unsubstantiated - There is insufficient evidence to prove or disprove the complaint; and  

 Sustained - The act did occur as alleged by the complainant, 

 Commended – The employee acted properly and should be commended in the handling of the 
situation 

 Policy failure - The employee acted within established policy, but policy needs to be changed. 

  

The panel chairperson will ensure that the findings of the panel are documented in writing.  Each 
allegation enumerated in the Professional Standards Investigation Summary will be listed, and the 
corresponding incident violation cited.  For each allegation/violation, there will be a disposition based on 
the findings of the investigation.  If multiple employees are included in the allegation or investigation, the 
disposition shall specify who it applies to for each employee.  If the panel identifies incident violations 
other than the initial allegation(s), each other violation must have an incident violation cited, and list a 
classification. 

 

The panel will also present documentation concerning the need to change departmental policies, rules, or 
procedures when appropriate. 

  

The chairperson of the Disposition Panel, at the direction of the Chief of Police, will forward a copy of the 
Disposition Panel summary to the affected Division Captain for a recommendation on any applicable 
disciplinary, corrective, or training action.  In cases where the Chief of Police believes that counseling 
would deter future infractions, the Chief of Police will ensure that the subordinate receives appropriate 
counseling.  

  

RELAYING THE FINDINGS TO INTERESTED PARTIES (EMPLOYEE, SUPERVISORS): [26.3.8]   

No line or internal investigation shall be considered complete until it has been approved by the Chief of 
Police.  Upon completion of any line or internal investigation the affected employee(s) will be notified in 
writing as to the disposition of the investigation and if applicable, the correspondence may be combined 
with any disciplinary action to be taken. 

  

An employee on any type of suspension will not engage in any off-duty official police function. 
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RELAYING THE FINDINGS TO COMPLAINANTS: [26.3.4c] 

Upon completion of any internal investigation and the ultimate decision upon the conclusion of fact, the 
Chief’s Office will author a letter to the complainant summarizing the investigative findings and the final 
determination.  No mention will be made of any disciplinary action. 

 

Upon completion of any line investigation and the ultimate decision upon the conclusion of fact, the 
investigating employee will author a letter to the complainant or make a documented phone call to the 
complainant summarizing the investigative findings and the final determination.  No letter will be sent 
without the approval of the Division Commander.  No mention will be made of any disciplinary action.   

 
ADMINISTRATION OF DISCIPLINE:   

Before any disciplinary action is administered, the recommendation must be reviewed and approved by 
the Chief of Police (See Disciplinary System directive for further details). 

 

Administrative Hearing:  The Chief of Police will hold a pre-disciplinary conference with the person(s) who 
is the subject of an investigation where there is potential for termination, demotion, suspension or any 
loss of property right. (Cleveland Board of Education v. Loudermill) 

 

 Notification must be made to the affected employee giving at least 24 hours’ notice prior to the 
Administrative Hearing. 

 The assigned investigator must outline in the notice all specific policies alleged to have been 
violated in support of the disciplinary action. 

 
INVESTIGATIVE FILE INTEGRITY:   

Copies of all related paperwork and correspondence relating to an investigation shall be placed and kept 
in the investigative file.  Upon completion of the investigation, whether an internal or a line investigation, 
the file shall be turned over to and maintained by the Professional Standards commander.  

 

The investigative case file or any portion of the file will not be viewed, copied, or distributed without the 
prior knowledge of the Chief of Police and the City Attorney if applicable.  If a subpoena is received by 
the Chief’s Office to view or copy the investigative file, the Chief of Police and City Attorney will be 
notified prior to making the file available. 

 

 

If a formal administrative investigation results in the removal, discharge, or suspension, or other 
disciplinary action against an employee, copies of any witness statements and the complete investigative 
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agency’s report shall be timely provided to the employee upon the request of the employee or the 
employee’s legal counsel upon request at the completion of the investigation.  

 
CONFIDENTIALITY: 

 Employees will not discuss or attempt to solicit any details concerning a matter they know to be 
under a line or internal investigation.  

 Internal investigations will be held in strict confidence. Information will be disseminated and used 
on a need-to-know basis or in cases where dissemination would be in the best interest of the Police 
Department.  This includes discussing the investigation with an employee’s immediate supervisor 
or command personnel if the investigator deems it necessary and appropriate.  

 The Chief of Police or their designee shall have the authority to discuss a completed internal 
investigation, with other command level employees if it is in the best interest of the Department. 
However, caution will be exercised as to what information is disseminated as to insure an 
employee’s privacy.  

 Whenever an investigation is forwarded through the chain of command for review, each 
reviewing member is responsible for maintaining the confidentiality and security of that 
investigation, to include maintaining any documentation and physical evidence in a secure 
location. 

   

APPEAL PROCESS:  [26.1.6] 

Upon notification of the recommended disciplinary action (except oral reprimand) the accused may: 

 Accept the disciplinary action as recommended; or 

 Appeal the action as detailed in the City of Cedar Rapids Employee Guide to Personnel Policies 
and Procedures; or 

 Appeal the action through the grievance procedure as allowed in the bargaining unit labor 
contract. 

  

If the accused should choose to appeal the suspension, demotion, or discharge to the Civil Service 
Commission, notification shall be filed with Clerk of the Commission within 14 calendar days after the first 
day that the adverse action took effect as specified in Chapter 400.20, Code of Iowa. 

 

The appeals process set forth in Chapter 400 of the Code of Iowa (400.18-400.27) shall be the basis from 
which all procedures will originate. 
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GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE:   

Grievances by bargaining unit employees will be handled in accordance with the Cedar Rapids Police 
Bargaining Union Contract.  When a grievance is filed the following information, at minimum, must be 
included: [22.4.1d] 

  Date of incident 

 Time of incident  

 Affected section(s) of the Union contract 

  

Grievances by non-bargaining unit employees will be handled in accordance with the City Personnel 
Policy. 

  

The Chief of Police is responsible for the coordination of formal grievances through departmental 
procedures.  Formal grievance records shall be maintained by the Chief of Police. [22.4.2] 

  

The Chief of Police or designee will conduct an annual analysis of filed grievances to check for trends, 
which may indicate agency issues.  If trends are detected, steps may be taken within the confines of the 
labor contract and/or employee guide to minimize the causes of such grievances in the future. [22.4.3] 

 
DISCHARGED EMPLOYEES: 

If an employee is discharged from employment, except for probationary employees, the Chief of Police 
and/or Human Resources during the exit interview will provide the dismissed employee with the following 
information: 

 The reason for the discharge; 

 The effective date of the discharge; and 

 The status of fringe and retirement benefits after the discharge. 

 

All entrance level Civil Service appointments shall be made subject to a probationary period of 12 
months, unless a shorter period is specifically provided by state law. During said probationary period, 
employees may be discharged if, in the judgment of the Chief of Police, they should be found not to be 
qualified to fill the position.  Probationary employees do not hold full Civil Service rights, and therefore, 
cannot appeal to the Commission.  Any probationary employee released from employment shall be 
notified in writing of the reason(s). 

  

The appointing officer or body may extend the probationary period of any officer due to extended 
absences, including but not limited to sick, injury or military leave, when the absence is such that the 
appointing authority does not have an adequate opportunity to evaluate the officer’s performance.  In the 
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event that the appointing authority chooses to extend the probationary period, the probationary period 
shall be extended for a period of time equal to the time in which the officer was absent. 
 
RECORDS OF DISCIPLINARY ACTION:   

All investigative records that result in disciplinary action shall be filed and maintained in the Professional 
Standards files by the Chief of Police or designee.  The only exceptions are: 

 Investigative records, which support a criminal charge against an employee, must be processed 
and retained using normal records procedures. 

 Written summary documenting the following will be placed in the employee’s personnel file 
whenever disciplinary action is taken which results in a written reprimand, suspension, demotion, 
or termination: 

o Employee notification of investigation and/or complaint, 

o Finding of fact, and  

o Final disposition.  

 
Disciplinary actions are permanent records and will not be expunged from an Internal Affairs file or 
employee’s disciplinary file. 
 

Coaching will be removed from the effected employee’s discipline file if it is requested by the employee 
and it has been more than six months since the date of the infraction.   

 

Personnel and background investigators representing law enforcement agencies who are conducting pre-
employment investigations of members’ or former members’ qualifications for employment are required to 
present a release and waiver form signed by the member / former member affected.  Release of 
personnel records are subject to the rules of Iowa Code Chapter 22.7 (11) and 91B.2. 

 

Statistical records shall be maintained by Professional Standards relating to the complaint/disciplinary 
process. 

 

 



1 RIGHTS OF PEACE OFFICERS & PUBLIC SAFETY & EMERGENCY PERSONNEL, §80F.1

80F.1 Peace officer, public safety, and emergency personnel bill of rights.
1. As used in this section, unless the context otherwise requires:
a. “Complaint” means a formal written allegation signed by the complainant or a written

statement by an officer receiving an oral complaint stating the complainant’s allegation.
b. “Formal administrative investigation” means an investigative process ordered by a

commanding officer of an agency or commander’s designee during which the questioning
of an officer is intended to gather evidence to determine the merit of a complaint which
may be the basis for seeking removal, discharge, or suspension, or other disciplinary action
against the officer.
c. “Informal inquiry” means a meeting by supervisory or command personnel with an

officer who is the subject of an allegation, for the purpose of resolving the allegation or
determining whether a formal administrative investigation should be commenced.
d. “Interview” means the questioning of an officer who is the subject of a complaint

pursuant to the formal administrative investigation procedures of the investigating agency,
if such a complaint may be the basis for seeking removal, discharge, or suspension, or other
disciplinary action against the officer. “Interview” does not include questioning as part of
any informal inquiry or questioning related to minor infractions of agency rules which will
not result in removal, discharge, suspension, or other disciplinary action against the officer.
e. “Officer” means a certified law enforcement officer, fire fighter, emergency medical

technician, corrections officer, detention officer, jailer, probation or parole officer,
communications officer, or any other law enforcement officer certified by the Iowa law
enforcement academy and employed by a municipality, county, or state agency.
f. “Statement” means the statement of the officer who is the subject of an allegation in

response to a complaint.
2. This section is not applicable to a criminal investigation of an officer or where other

investigations pursuant to state or federal law require different investigatory procedures.
3. A formal administrative investigation of an officer shall be commenced and completed

in a reasonable period of time and an officer shall be immediately notified of the results of
the investigation when the investigation is completed.
4. An officer shall not be compelled to submit to a polygraph examination against the will

of the officer except as otherwise provided in section 730.4, subsection 3.
5. An officer who is the subject of a complaint, shall at a minimum, be provided a written

summary of the complaint prior to an interview. If a collective bargaining agreement applies,
the complaint or written summary shall be provided pursuant to the procedures established
under the collective bargaining agreement. If the complaint alleges domestic abuse, sexual
abuse, or sexual harassment, an officer shall not receive more than a written summary of the
complaint.
6. An officer being interviewed shall be advised by the interviewer that the officer shall

answer the questions and be advised that the answers shall not be used against the officer in
any subsequent criminal proceeding.
7. An interview of an officer who is the subject of the complaint shall, at a minimum, be

audio recorded.
8. The officer shall have the right to have legal counsel present, at the officer’s expense,

during the interview of the officer. In addition, the officer shall have the right, at the officer’s
expense, to have a union representative present during the interview or, if not a member of a
union, the officer shall have the right to have a designee present.
9. If a formal administrative investigation results in the removal, discharge, or

suspension, or other disciplinary action against an officer, copies of any witness statements
and the investigative agency’s report shall be timely provided to the officer upon the request
of the officer.
10. An interview shall be conducted at any facility of the investigating agency.
11. If an interview is conducted while an officer is off duty, the officer shall be

compensated as provided by law, or as provided in the applicable collective bargaining
agreement.
12. If a complaint is determined by the investigating officer to be a violation of section
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718.6, the investigating officer shall be responsible for filing the necessary paperwork with
the county attorney’s office in order for the county attorney to make a determination as to
whether to charge the person with a violation of section 718.6.
13. An officer shall have the right to pursue civil remedies under the law against a citizen

arising from the filing of a false complaint against the officer.
14. Notwithstanding any other provision of state law to the contrary, an officer shall not

be denied the opportunity to be a candidate for any elected office as long as the officer’s
candidacy does not violate the federal Hatch Act, 5 U.S.C. §1501 et seq. An officer may be
required, as a condition of being a candidate, to take a leave of absence during the campaign.
If the officer is subject to chapter 341A and is a candidate for county sheriff, the candidate,
upon the candidate’s request, shall automatically be given a leave of absence without pay as
provided in section 341A.18.
15. An officer shall have the right, as any other citizen, to engage in political activity except

while on duty as long as the officer’s political activity does not violate the federal Hatch Act,
5 U.S.C. §1501 et seq. An officer shall not be required to engage in political activity by the
officer’s agency, a representative of the officer’s agency, or any other agency.
16. An officer shall not be discharged, disciplined, or threatened with discharge or

discipline in retaliation for exercising the rights of the officer enumerated in this section.
17. The rights enumerated in this section are in addition to any other rights granted

pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement or other applicable law.
18. A municipality, county, or state agency employing an officer shall not publicly release

the officer’s official photograph without the written permission of the officer or without a
request to release pursuant to chapter 22.
19. If a formal administrative investigation results in removal, discharge, suspension,

or disciplinary action against an officer, and the officer alleges in writing a violation of the
provisions of this section, the municipality, county, or state agency employing the officer
shall hold in abeyance for a period of ten days any punitive action taken as a result of the
investigation, including a reprimand. An allegation of a violation of this section may be
raised and given due consideration in any properly authorized grievance or appeal exercised
by an officer, including but not limited to a grievance or appeal exercised pursuant to the
terms of an applicable collective bargaining agreement and an appeal right exercised under
section 341A.12 or 400.20.
2007 Acts, ch 160, §1
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POLICY/PURPOSE:  
The purpose of this directive is to state formally the process of discipline and to establish the policies and 
procedures for using training and counseling as methods of positive discipline and to set out the forms of 
punitive disciplinary options used by the Cedar Rapids Police Department (CRPD).  

It is the policy of the CRPD to develop positive disciplinary procedures to minimize the necessity of 
negative, punitive disciplinary actions.  

DEFINITIONS:  
Aggravating Factors – Facts and/or circumstances that cause the severity of a disciplinary action to be 
more than the specified discipline for the category as defined in the department’s disciplinary matrix. 

Coaching Form – A form documenting correction given for minor policy violations (see Matrix below).  The 
form will be placed in the employee’s red file.  This is not punitive in nature. [26.1.4b] 

Demotion – Reduction in rank due to an infraction that was (a) intentional and severe in nature, and/or (b) 
involved gross neglect, or (c) the past conduct of the employee demonstrates the behavior is repetitive in 
nature.  

Formal Discipline - Formal discipline shall mean action involving demotion, removal from office, 
suspension, letters of reprimand or other similar action. 

Misconduct – Minor policy violations that are unacceptable but not criminal. 

Mitigating Factors – Facts and/or circumstances that cause the severity of a disciplinary action to be less 
than the specified discipline for the category as defined in the department’s disciplinary matrix. 

Restitution – Withholding of pay to cover actual cost to repair/replace city property that was 
lost/damaged. 

Suspension – Unpaid leave for an infraction that was (a) intentional and severe in nature, and/or (b) 
involved gross neglect, or (c) the past conduct of the employee demonstrates the infraction is repetitive in 
nature.  The supervisor/commander should feel that a suspension is necessary to correct the behavior. 

Termination – Loss of employment status with the City for an infraction or series of infractions, so grave 
in nature that continued employment would affect the operational effectiveness of the department and the 
employee’s supervisor/commander is convinced that corrective action is not a possibility.   



CEDAR RAPIDS POLICE DEPARTMENT 
Cedar Rapids, Iowa

APPLIES TO: Department  

Page 2 of 11 

POLICY TITLE: Disciplinary System STANDARD/REF #: 
11.3.2; 26.1.4; 26.1.5; 26.1.7; 

APPROVED BY: Wayne Jerman, Chief 

26.1.8; 26.2.5 

REVIEWED DATE: 8/20/2018 

REQUIRED REVIEWERS: Professional Standards REVISED DATE: 8/20/2018 

Written Reprimand – Formal written documentation of reprimand for an infraction that was (a) intentional 
and serious in nature, and/or (b) involved a greater, more serious degree of negligence, and/or (c) the 
employee has received prior notices of policy violations and the supervisor is convinced that a reprimand 
is necessary to correct the behavior.  The employee is advised that conduct of this nature will not be 
tolerated and that a recurrence will result in a suspension. 

Shift File – A file for non-confidential information to allow commanders to maintain shift-level documents 
which aid in the day-to-day operations and performance evaluation process.  

PROCEDURE:  
Training: [26.1.4a] 

Discipline may take the form of training or experience that corrects, molds, strengthens, or perfects. 
Such discipline allows for a professionally-oriented department.  

Officer's acts, which are committed because they either misunderstood procedures or were never made 
aware of the correct action, are indicators of training needs.  These needs may be corrected by remedial 
training programs. 

 Remedial training is personalized training to correct a specific deficiency, which is usually
identified by testing, evaluation during training, by a supervisor evaluating an employee during
routine job performance, or by acts requiring disciplinary actions.

A review of internal investigations should analyze information to determine possible training needs by 
identifying undesirable behavior trends of those individuals.  

Training may be used as part of the department's disciplinary system by itself, or in conjunction with other 
disciplinary procedures as determined by the Chief of Police. 

An employee may be assigned to remedial training based on the results of a Professional Standards 
investigation or by the Chief of Police as a positive measure to correct a deficiency. 

In a non-disciplinary action, an employee may be assigned to remedial training if their supervisor, through 
the division commander, recommends the process to correct a lack of skill, knowledge, or abilities to 
perform their assigned tasks properly.  

Upon completion of a remedial training program participants shall be evaluated to determine whether or 
not existing deficiencies were alleviated.  Results of the evaluation shall be forwarded through the chain 
of command to the Chief of Police. 
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Supervisors Role in the Disciplinary Process: [11.3.2, 26.1.5] 

Supervisors are responsible for the performance, conduct, and adherence to departmental directives and 
policies and procedures of their subordinates.  Supervisors are the initiators of the disciplinary process 
and should use the disciplinary matrix along with their knowledge of supervision, subordinates, and 
knowledge of the infraction and its circumstances when taking or recommending corrective action.  
Supervisors are required to document all cases of misconduct as outlined in this directive. 

Any supervisor may initiate a notice of policy violation or written reprimand.  Written reprimands may be 
initiated by any supervisor but must be passed upward along the chain of command.  The Chief of Police 
retains final authority in all disciplinary matters. If the supervisor initiating a policy violation is not the 
individual’s immediate supervisor, the immediate supervisor will be notified when the action is forwarded 
through the system. 

Counseling: [26.1.4b]   
Counseling is assisting employees in the process of problem solving.  It may be corrective or preventive 
in nature. Counseling as a component of the disciplinary system may be employed by itself or in 
conjunction with one (1) or more of the components of the disciplinary system. Counseling may focus on: 

 The necessity for a person to change an existing behavior, or deficient work method

 The necessity for a person to alter behavior in preparation to be considered for additional
responsibilities

 A disciplinary problem, which may be handled in a positive manner by itself, or in conjunction
with other disciplinary measures

The following criteria should exist for using counseling: A reasonable belief must exist that the employee 
has an existing problem or is experiencing difficulty in understanding, adjusting to, or internalizing matters 
which:  

 Are job related, pertaining to assigned tasks;

 Involve personnel policies pertaining to departmental policies;

 Involve interpersonal relationships with co-workers;

 Involve personal matters, which are affecting the employees work performance.

The process may be based on the results of a Professional Standards investigation concerning a 
disciplinary matter, by recommending counseling for the employee to the Chief of Police, as a positive 
measure to correct a deficiency.  Factors must be present which indicate the employee's problem is 
having a detrimental effect on work performance.  
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There must be a reason to believe that counseling may assist the employee in a supportive way or 
otherwise have a positive impact on work performance.  The following procedures should be followed for 
utilizing counseling as a function of discipline:  

 The employee or their immediate supervisor may initiate the counseling process

 The initial counseling effort shall be intended to find a remedy or, if not possible, to route the
counseling process to one of the following as appropriate: watch commander, division
commander, or outside professional counseling service

DISCIPLINARY GUIDELINES MATRIX 
The purpose of this section is to establish a disciplinary matrix (classification system) in order to address 
violations of department regulations in a fair and consistent manner. The goal of the disciplinary matrix is 
to encourage appropriate behavior and to provide information concerning penalties for violations of 
regulations. 

The matrix contained in this section serves as a guide for internal decisions regarding disciplinary actions. 
The Chief of Police shall not be bound by the degrees of discipline outlined in the matrix and may 
determine levels of discipline higher or lower than recommended based on the facts involved.  Not all 
policies are listed in the disciplinary matrix, however all policies will be enforced. 

General Description 
Misconduct is categorized based on degrees of severity. The categories range from Category “A” through 
Category “E”. Category “A” contains the lowest levels of infractions and involves non-punitive measures.  
Repeated violations in any category may move an infraction to the next level.  Category “B” violations or 
higher will normally result in punitive measures. 

Category “A” (Minor) Coaching 
Category “A” violation(s) are a single incident that has minimal negative impact on the operations or 
reputation of the CRPD.  It will be documented utilizing a Coaching Form (CRPD #789).  This form will be 
sent through the chain of command and will be held in their red file. 

A fourth and/or subsequent Category “A” Coaching within a 6-month period after the last issuance, may be 
considered a Category “B” violation.   

Continued Category “A” Coaching resulting in Category “B” punishment may rise to Category “C” through 
“E” punishment with continued violations. 
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Category Violations (Major): 

 Category “B” violation(s) are incidents that have more than minimal impact on the operations or
reputation of the CRPD or that negatively impacts relationships with other officers, agencies, or
the public (written reprimand, removal from part-time specialty unit, or restitution).

 Category “C” violation(s) are incidents that have a pronounced negative impact on the operations
or reputation of the CRPD or on relationships with employees, other agencies or the public (10-
30 hours suspension from duty without pay, or removal from Task Force, part-time, or full-time
specialty unit, or restitution).

 Category “D” violation(s) are incidents that are contrary to the core values of the CRPD or that
involve a substantial risk of officer or public safety (40-80 hours suspension from duty without
pay, or removal from Task Force, part-time, or full-time specialty unit, or involuntary transfer from
current position when the continued presence of the employee would affect performance and/or
integrity of the department).

 Category “E” violation(s) are incidents that are violations that are contrary to the core values of
the CRPD. This includes acts of serious misconduct or acts of criminal conduct (more than 80
hours suspension from duty without pay, demotion, or dismissal).

A second and/or subsequent Category “B” through “E” violation within a 24-month period will be treated as 
an aggravating factor and may increase the category of a current violation and/or its punishment to the 
next higher category. 

NOTE:  If a Category “A” through “E” is issued, see section 8.1 of the Cedar Rapids Police Bargaining 
Union contract. 

Written Reprimand (Category B): 
A written reprimand may be initiated by the employee's supervisor and may be applied to any infraction of 
policies, rules and regulations, or procedural errors.  The written reprimand shall follow the chain of 
command with the Chief of Police maintaining final authority.  Written reprimands shall be documented on 
Letter of Reprimand Form (CRPD #740) and forwarded to the employee's red file.  

Suspension (Category C-E): 
When the infraction is of such a nature that a notice of policy violation or letter of reprimand is 
inappropriate, the Chief of Police may suspend an employee.  The employee shall be given written notice 
of the suspension and the reason(s) for the suspension.  

Demotion: 
With proper cause, the Chief of Police may order an employee demoted.  An employee may also be 
demoted due to lack of work, prudent business reasons, a series of violations, or one very serious 
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violation.  The employee shall be given notice in writing of the demotion and the reasons for the 
demotion.  

Dismissal: 
Dismissal may occur after progressive discipline has been taken and there is no change in the 
employee's performance or behavior, or when an act is of a serious nature.  Any employee whose 
conduct results in dismissal shall be provided the following:  

 A statement citing the reason for dismissal [26.1.7a]

 The effective date of the dismissal [26.1.7b]

 A statement of the status of fringe and retirement benefits after dismissal [26.1.7c]

 A statement as to the content of the employee's employment record relating to the dismissal

 A statement indicating the steps and time frame in which appeals need to be made in
accordance with the grievance process and appeals pursuant to the civil service process

Disciplinary Review Board 
All categories B through E violations will be reviewed by a disciplinary review board consisting of the four 
division commanders.  After reviewing the facts of the case, the board will submit a recommendation of 
discipline to the Chief of Police.  Generally, the board will recommend the least amount of discipline listed 
in the category for first time category violations.  In cases where the recommended disciplinary measure 
deviates from prescribed matrix standards, the board will justify the recommendation by providing 
aggravating or mitigating circumstances.  The Chief of Police shall determine all final dispositions. 

Annual Review of Disciplinary Cases: [26.2.5] 

The commanding officer of Professional Standards will submit an annual report to the Chief of Police 

after reviewing all departmental disciplinary cases.  The review will be conducted to determine the need 

for modifications in the following areas: 

 Training

 Change in policy, procedure, or rules and regulations

 Adequacy of supervision

 Need for inspection or other controls

During the review process, the commanding officer of Professional Standards will analyze all formal 
citizen complaints.  This report will be used in the development of departmental goals in preparation for 
the annual planning and departmental budget process. 
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RED FILE: [26.1.8] 
Documentation of disciplinary action taken against an employee will be maintained as follows: 

 Formal Discipline - In cases involving formal discipline, the documentation will permanently
remain a part of the affected employee’s red file.

 Coaching - In cases involving Coaching, the documentation may be purged from the affected
employee’s personnel file 6 months after final action.

 Purging Files - The documentation purged shall include statements by the employee, witnesses
and identification of the person filing the complaint.  When the documentation is purged from the
affected employee’s personnel file, the action will be logged in the red file, signed off by the
employee, and the documentation will be destroyed.

NOTE:  This directive is for departmental use only and does not apply in any criminal or civil proceeding.  
The department policy should not be construed as a creation of higher legal standard of safety or care in 
an evidentiary sense with respect to third-party claims.  Violations of this directive will only form the basis 
for departmental administrative sanctions. 
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General Conduct/Behavior Policy Violations        Category 

Inappropriate comments/rude or discourteous actions/Use of profane, obscene 
language/inappropriate gestures 

B 

Offensive and/or discriminatory comments regarding race, ethnicity, gender, religious 
beliefs, physical characteristics and/or sexual orientation/lifestyle 

C 

Harassment and/or discrimination C 

Violation of Bias Based Profiling policy D 

Failure to follow chain of command/Obtain supervisor approval A 

Insubordination C 

Failure to obey a lawful order C 

Obstructing or hindering a criminal and/or internal investigation E 

Sleeping on duty B 

Failure to report to a required court appearance or training A 

Failure to answer radio (required job duties) A 

Intoxicated/Consumption of alcohol while on duty E 

Unexcused lateness to assigned duty A 

Failure to report to scheduled duty or on-call duty C 

Failure to assist/Backup other officers C 

Failure to advise the department of address/Telephone change A 

Failure to provide name and identification to citizens/police B 

Violation of social media policy A 

Failure to put yourself out on radio A 

Failure to follow tobacco use policy A 

Violation of work restrictions B 

Evidence and Found Property        Category 

Failure to recover evidence at the scene B 

Improper recovery, processing, and documentation of receipt of evidence/found property A 

Intentional and/or willful destruction, disregard, and/or tampering of evidence E 

Failure to impound when required A 

Untruthfulness/Deception        Category 

Work related misrepresentations that are minor and inconsequential E 

Intentional misrepresentation under oath, in an internal investigation, in a report, or in 
any matter that adversely affects another person’s life 

E 
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Secondary Employment        Category 

No approved secondary employment form on file A 

Restriction violations (Hours/Week) A 

Working prohibited secondary employment site B 

Working while on medical leave without permission or in violation of restricted duty 
policy-Policy questions 

B 

Prisoner Issues        Category 

Violations relating to searches – Contraband A 

Violations relating to searches - Weapons B 

Violations relating to transportation of prisoner B 

Violations relating to prisoner property A 

Violations relating to guard/custody C 

Violations relating to medical/mental health treatment C 

Neglect of Duty        Category 

Failure to take necessary police action B 

Failure of a supervisor to take necessary action C 

Abuse of police powers E 

Criminal Violations        Category 

Failure to report being charged with a traffic or criminal offense B 

Serious Misdemeanor or above criminal violations and attempts E 

Serious traffic offenses E 

Illegal Use of Controlled Substances E 

Police Vehicle Operations        Category 

Vehicle Collision Due to Simple Negligence with Minor Consequences: A collision resulting 
from minimal inattentiveness by the officer and cosmetic damage to property and no 
personal injury. 

A 

Vehicle Collision Due to Simple Negligence with Moderate Consequences: A collision 
resulting from minimal inattentiveness by the officer but damage and/or a minor personal 
injury has been sustained. 

B 

Vehicle Collision Due to Negligence with Minor/Moderate Consequences: A collision 
resulting from inattentiveness by the officer with damage and/or a personal injury has been 
sustained. 

C 

Vehicle Collision Due to Recklessness No Matter the Consequences: A collision resulting D 
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from inattentiveness and negligence toward the safe operation of the vehicle. 

Vehicle Collision Due to Gross Negligence No Matter the Consequences: A collision 
resulting from the negligent operation of the vehicle and a disregard to highway safety. 

E 

Failure to wear seatbelt C 

Minor violations of motor vehicle/pursuit policy A 

Negligent violation of motor vehicle/pursuit policy B 

Reckless violation of motor vehicle/pursuit policy C 

Use of Force        Category 

Unnecessary Force – force that is used when not required in light of the circumstances 
but is not brutal or excessive 

A 

Unreasonable Force – force used that is outside what an ordinary or prudent law 
enforcement officer would use 

C 

Excessive Force – force that is clearly excessive in scope, duration, or severity in light of 
the circumstances 

D 

Brutal Force – force that is without justification or mitigation in light of the circumstances 
and is severe/cruel in scope or duration 

E 

Firearms        Category 

Carrying an unauthorized firearm on-duty C 

Carrying unauthorized ammunition on-duty C 

Failure to properly maintain firearm B 

Failure to properly secure department issued firearm(s): on-duty or off-duty C 

Negligent handling of a firearm resulting in a discharge C 

Failure to report firearm discharge C 

Failure to properly secure department issued weapons C 

Investigative Protocol        Category 

Violations of procedures for preliminary & follow-up investigations A 

Failure to file required reports (Code of Conduct) B 

Accuracy of reports/Completeness A 

Failure to arrest/Cite when required (DA, NCO, etc) B 

Improper interview or interrogation A 

Improper search and seizure A 

Unreasonable search and seizure C 

Knowingly or willfully violating an individual’s Constitutional Rights E 

Violation of audio/video recording procedures B 
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Care and Use of Uniforms and Equipment        Category 

Wearing improper attire/Out of uniform Displaying unprofessional appearance A 

Loss of departmental uniform items or equipment items (Not to include firearm, radio, I.T. 
equipment, vehicle, or badge) 

A 

Loss of departmental radio, I.T. equipment, Defibrillator, and/or badge B 

Loss of departmental firearm and/or vehicle D 

Intentional damage to departmental uniform items or equipment items C 

Minor damage to department equipment as a result of negligence B 

Major damage to department equipment as a result of negligence C 

Improper use of department equipment A 

Unauthorized use of department equipment (Take home cars, equipment, etc) B 

Violation of Body Armor wear/use policy B 

Confidential Information        Category 

Improper dissemination/access of investigation/departmental information C 

Computer access violations – internal C 

CJIS/iLeads/NCIC Protocol Violation: Imprudent Activity B 

CJIS/iLeads/NCIC Protocol Violation: Criminal Intent / Personal Gain E 

Negligent disclosure of NCIC information to Unauthorized person A 

Intentional disclosure of NCIC information to Unauthorized person/accessing NCIC 
information without lawful purpose 

B 

Intentional destruction or modification of NCIC/IOWA system logs or any other storage 
medium  

E 
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CIVILIAN OVERSIGHT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT

A TRAINING FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS CITIZEN REVIEW BOARD

OCTOBER 14, 2021

INTRODUCTIONS

CAMERON MCELLHINEY

DIRECTOR OF TRAINING & EDUCATION
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TRAINING OVERVIEW

 Principles for Effective Oversight

Framework for 

Effective 
Practices in 

Oversight
DEFINING AND RECOMMENDING 
EFFECTIVE PRACTICES FOR CIVILIAN 
OVERSIGHT
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“BEST PRACTICES” VS. “EFFECTIVE PRACTICES”

Limitations in regards to 
the applicability of a 

“best practices” 
approach has led 

NACOLE to propose an 
“effective practices” 
approach based on 

thirteen principles that 
serve as a foundation for 
successful and effective 

oversight.

The form that oversight 
takes in a community 
should be one that is 

possible, feasible, and 
congruent with 

community 
expectations.

The “best” form of 
oversight will depend on 
the local circumstances 

of the jurisdiction.

“BEST PRACTICES” LIMITATIONS

The complexities of social and political contexts make identifying successful practices employed in one 
jurisdiction and transferring them to another a challenging and unreliable task fraught with potential 
errors of interpretation and extrapolation.

The goals of civilian oversight do not lend themselves to systematic, comparative measurement.

There is a lack of standardized definitions related to the data being collected and analyzed that make 
cross-jurisdictional comparison difficult, if not impossible.

No two civilian oversight agencies are the same.



10/14/2021

4

“EFFECTIVE PRACTICES” FRAMEWORK

In the field of civilian oversight, there are several possible paths to success.

Development must allow for flexibility and context but still take into consideration criteria 
that is understood to be crucial to successful and effective oversight.

Oversight must take into consideration the core values and principles that should be 
satisfied to produce better outcomes.

The diverse perspectives and wisdom of experienced practitioners should be valued.

Stakeholder input and dialogue should be prioritized.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR EFFECTIVE PRACTICES

Is this practice an appropriate “fit” for our local context?

How will this practice strengthen civilian oversight in relation to the thirteen 
principles for effective oversight?

What are the potential unintended consequences of implementing this practice?
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Thirteen 

Principles for 

Effective 

Oversight

PRINCIPLES FOR EFFECTIVE CIVILIAN OVERSIGHT

Independence

Clearly 
defined and 
adequate 
jurisdiction 

and authority

Unfettered access to 
records and facilities

Access to LE 
executives 
and IA staff

Full cooperation

Sustained 
stakeholder 

support

Adequate funding 
and resources

Public 
reporting and 
transparency

Policy and pattern 
analysis

Community 
outreach

Community 
involvement

Confidentiality, 
anonymity, and 
protection from 

retaliation

Procedural 
justice and 
legitimacy
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INDEPENDENCE

► At its core, it is an absence of real or perceived influence from 

law enforcement, political actors, and other special interests 

looking to affect the operations of the civilian oversight 

agency.

► May be discussed in terms of structural independence, 

political independence, and operational (or process) 

independence. 

► Impartiality, fairness, and working in a manner that maintains 

community and stakeholder trust is of utmost importance.

► An agency must be able to demonstrate the extent and 

impact of its independence from the overseen law 

enforcement agency — especially in the face of high-profile 

issues or incidents. 

CLEARLY DEFINED AND ADEQUATE 

JURISDICTION & AUTHORITY

► Scope of authority and jurisdiction can vary widely from agency to agency.

► Adequate jurisdiction and authority are fundamental in achieving organizational goals and 
ensuring the oversight agency can be responsive to communities. Lack of authority and 
jurisdiction can inhibit the effectiveness of an agency.

► Each oversight model requires different combinations of base-level authority in order to 
effectively perform its mandated work.

► Stakeholders must determine the type of authority the agency will have with regard to the 
many facets of its core duties. (jurisdiction to handle complaints filed by members within the 
overseen law enforcement agency; authorization to address issues related to department 
policies and procedures; the agency’s role in officer-involved shootings, serious uses of force, 
discipline, and training; etc.).

► Stakeholders should be prepared to resolve any issues regarding an agency’s authority and 
amend oversight legislation as necessary.
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UNFETTERED ACCESS TO RECORDS

► Certain oversight functions have minimum requirements in 
terms of information access to meet their mandate.

► The ability to review all records relevant to an investigation or 
other matters within the scope of a civilian oversight agency’s 
authority in a timely manner is essential to providing effective, 
informed, and fact-driven oversight.

► Timely and reliable access to department records, 
information, and facilities allow oversight practitioners to 
make decisions that meaningfully address areas of concern.

► The “what” and “how” should be addressed early on — what 
information will be accessible, how will they accessed, and 
within what time frames?

ACCESS TO LAW ENFORCEMENT 

EXECUTIVES & INTERNAL AFFAIRS STAFF

► An agency must be able to effectively communicate with law enforcement officials regarding 

matters of concern identified throughout the course of the oversight agency’s work. 

► The appropriate law enforcement officials must be directly accessible and responsive to issues 

raised by the civilian oversight agency.

► Legislation should require that law enforcement agencies provide timely, written, and public 

responses detailing why a particular recommendation was either accepted or rejected. 
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FULL COOPERATION

► Cooperation of uniformed and civilian staff is absolutely necessary to perform effective 

oversight.

► Law enforcement agencies should develop policies requiring cooperation with oversight 

investigations, subject to discipline for failing to cooperate.

► Conditions of cooperation must respect due process rights and an individual’s constitutional 

right against self-incrimination.

SUSTAINED STAKEHOLDER SUPPORT

► Civilian oversight can be undermined over time by a lack of meaningful support from those who 

can contribute to an agency’s success:

 failing to provide the agency with adequate authority and/or resources;

 selecting ineffective managers or leaving board appointments vacant for prolonged 

periods of time;

 disregarding recommendations or findings; or 

 remaining unwilling to address outstanding issues relating to the effective functioning of the 

civilian oversight agency. 

► The ability to maintain stakeholder support may be a function of its outreach to key 

stakeholders. 
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ADEQUATE FUNDING & RESOURCES

► Support for civilian oversight must include a sustained 

commitment to provide adequate and necessary 

resources. 

► Resources to retain experienced professional staff, provide 

staff and volunteer board or commission members with 

adequate training on a regular basis, perform community 

outreach, and disseminate public reports and other 

outreach materials are imperative.

► Budget and staffing needs can vary greatly based on 

oversight model, region, the types and number of law 

enforcement agencies overseen, and workload.

PUBLIC REPORTING AND 

TRANSPARENCY

► Issuing regular public reports is critical to an agency’s credibility.

► They should not be censored or modified by law enforcement or political stakeholders. 

► Reports should be written in an accessible manner.

► They should include as much information related to the agency’s mandate and operations as 

can be disclosed by law.

► If able, agencies should issues more frequent reports and, where appropriate, special reports 

on specific matters such as the findings of a particular policy review, audit, or investigation.
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POLICY AND PATTERN ANALYSIS

► Such analyses advance the goals of effective civilian oversight by addressing 

systemic problems of  law enforcement agencies.

► Necessary step in formulating recommendations for policy reform.

► Data-driven and evidence-based analyses of specific issues, oversight 

agencies can pinpoint areas of concern and formulate recommendations for 

improvement. 

► While individual incidents of misconduct are properly investigated and 

handled is a crucial tool for building public confidence, the ability to examine 

broader issues relating to policy, training, discipline, and supervision promotes 

long-term organizational change.

COMMUNITY OUTREACH

Agencies should consider dedicating significant resources to community 

outreach because of its potential impact:

► Build awareness of its existence

► Share reports and findings with the public

► Build relationships with stakeholders

► Recruit volunteers

► Solicit community input and involvement

► Facilitate learning and greater understanding

► Broker improved relationships

► Build coalitions

► Develop a greater capacity for problem-solving
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

► It is important to solicit stakeholder input and involvement on how oversight should function 

and which issues it should address.

► When establishing civilian oversight, stakeholders must work to determine the appropriate 

degree of initial and ongoing community involvement in the oversight agency’s work. 

► Including community members in the process can take a variety of forms. 

► In all cases, community involvement should represent the local population’s composition and 

diversity.

CONFIDENTIALITY, ANONYMITY, AND 

PROTECTION FROM RETALIATION

► Oversight must function with the same integrity, professionalism, and ethical 

standards it expects from and promotes for law enforcement.

► An agency must, at all times, respect confidentiality agreements, maintain 

the anonymity of those who wish to share information anonymously, and work 

towards creating an environment where those involved with or contacting 

the oversight agency can do so without fear of retaliation or retribution.

► Personal identifiers and specific information that may be covered by statutes 

regarding the disclosure of information must be removed or redacted before 

disclosing any information.

► There must also be adequate protections for those who would like to file 

complaints or come forth with information.
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PROCEDURAL JUSTICE AND 

LEGITIMACY

► Procedural justice typically centers on how authority is exercised. For entities whose authority  

is established by law, the recognition of their right to that authority and perceptions of how 

fairly that authority is exercised are crucial components of their legitimacy.

► Incorporating principles of procedural justice in complaints process increases complainant 

satisfaction.

► Officers who perceive their work environment to be unfair and unjust are more likely to 

engage in misconduct, use force, and less likely to support community policing.

Community Development Policing 

Grant

Civilian Oversight Agency Database

Nine (9) Case Studies

Data Analysis

Report on the State of the Field and Effective 
Practices
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CAMERON MCELLHINEY: 

MCELLHINEY@NACOLE.ORG

mailto:MCELLHINEY@NACOLE.ORG
http://www.nacole.org/
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